IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

ROSEMARY STOGNIEW,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 83,881 District Court of Appeal, 2d District - No. 93-00436

THOMAS J. McQUEEN,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review of a Question Certified to be of Great Public Importance By the Second District Court of Appeal

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Murray B. Silverstein, Esquire SILVERSTEIN & SNYDER, P.A. Enterprise Plaza, Suite 1511 201 E. Kennedy Boulevard Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 222-8080 Florida Bar No. 349216 Attorneys for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, ROSEMARY STOGNIEW ("STOGNIEW") was the plaintiff in the trial court and the appellant/cross-appellee in the appellate proceedings. Respondent, THOMAS J. McQUEEN ("McQUEEN"), was the defendant in the trial court and the appellee/cross-appellant in the appellate proceedings. The parties will be referred to simply as "STOGNIEW" or "McQUEEN".

The following reference symbols will be used:

- "R" to designate the page number of the record on appeal;
- "T" to designate the page number of the trial proceedings which took place during November 3 through 9, 1992.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Rosemary Stogniew seeks discretionary review of the Second District Court of Appeal's certified question of great public importance concerning the preclusive and binding effect of a prior administrative determination of a professional's misconduct on a subsequent suit for negligence against the same professional. Stogniew also seeks reversal of the Second District's decision affirming the trial court's final judgment rendered November 18, 1992 on a jury verdict for the defendant, McQueen (R.792), after five days of trial during November 2 through 9, 1992 (R.792).

Stogniew commenced her negligence action against McQueen on April 3, 1990 in a multicount complaint which also contained alternative theories of recovery based upon breach of fiduciary duty, intentional and negligent misrepresentation, and breach of contract. All actionable claims were based upon the counseling relationship that started in January 1986 and ended December 1988 between McQueen, a licensed marriage and family therapist, and Rosemary Stogniew, his patient/client (R.1-15).

Prior to her civil action Stogniew filed her complaint against McQueen with the Department of Professional Regulation ("DPR") (R.694), which resulted in an investigation, administrative complaint and a final evidentiary hearing.

While the action in the trial court was pending, a final decision was reached February 28, 1991 by the DPR which concluded, among other things, that McQueen violated Section 491.009(2)(s), Florida Statutes (1989), by failing to meet the minimum standards of performance in his professional activities when measured against generally prevailing peer performance in his relationship with Stogniew (R.197-99).

In her civil action Stogniew then moved for partial summary judgment based on offensive collateral estoppel requesting the trial court to preclude relitigation of the issue of whether

McQueen failed to meet the minimum standards of his profession in his counseling relationship with Stogniew based upon the DPR's Final Order (R.193-244). Attached to both her motion for partial summary judgment and her supporting memorandum of law (R.255-76) were copies of the DPR Final Order, the DOAH Hearing Officer's Recommended Order, and supporting documentation from the DPR proceedings. After arguments of counsel (R.811-64) the trial court denied Stogniew's motion (R.470-71), and the case proceeded to trial resulting in a defense verdict for McQueen.

The Evidence at Trial

The same facts which formed the basis for the DPR proceedings also formed the basis for Stogniew's action in the trial court below. The following evidence was presented at trial.

After the sudden and unexpected death of her 21-year-old son, Gerald, Jr., on January 7, 1986, Stogniew was inconsolable and unable to resolve the severe grief she experienced. Unable to return to work at the office at Holy Cross Catholic Church in St. Petersburg, she sought out the spiritual guidance and advice of an associate pastor who referred her to a "psychologist friend" by the name of Tom McQueen (T.65). Stogniew was informed that McQueen was a former priest which led her to believe that she could trust him (T.66). After making an appointment, Stogniew saw McQueen in his office at the rectory offices of Espiritu Santo Catholic Church on January 30, 1986 (T.67). Over the remainder of 1986, Stogniew continued her office visits with McQueen on approximately fifteen different occasions, meeting each time for approximately fifty to sixty minutes and then calling sometime thereafter to schedule the next session (T.72).

Throughout the various sessions, although no formal treatment plan was identified by McQueen, he continuously encouraged Stogniew to be "proactive," rather than "reactive," about her son's death, which concepts Stogniew never really understood and she so advised McQueen

(T.77). Stogniew testified that the topics of God and religion were utilized by McQueen throughout their counseling sessions. McQueen regularly told Stogniew that her son's death was the "will of God" and that God would use McQueen and others to "make clear the way" (T.81). As she testified, she "had to trust Mr. McQueen to help [her] reestablish that connection to God" (T.82).

After several counseling sessions, on April 3, 1986, McQueen mentioned to Stogniew that he had been trying for approximately seven years to open a counseling center in northern Pinellas County in association with Catholic Social Services but that he had been unsuccessful and experienced frustration in his efforts (T.74-75). From the April 3rd session and thereafter the subject of McQueen's interest in a counseling center continued to come up (T.78).

Later, during the September, 1986 time frame, after receiving conflicting reports from the medical examiner regarding the cause of her son's death, Stogniew advised McQueen that she was "going to disappear", meaning that she was going to kill herself. She made this clear to McQueen (T.85). McQueen determined that, after nine months of counseling, she was still suffering severe depression and needed to be on medication. He referred her to psychiatrist Luis Herrero for an appointment on October 9, 1986 (T.86).

Dr. Herrero, a Diplomate of the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology specializing in psychoneuroendocrinology, testified that his initial diagnostic impression of Stogniew was: "major depressive disorder (unresolved pathological grief response)" for which he prescribed Ludiomil to be gradually increased to a therapeutic level. He also recommended that Stogniew return to McQueen for "ongoing supportive psychotherapy" (T.504; R.655 -- Plaintiff's composite Exhibit No. 9 consisted of Dr. Herrero's file). Dr. Herrero's initial testing included administering a Zung Depression Scale. Stogniew's scaled score showed a depression index of 76 which amounted to "extreme severe depression". As Dr. Herrero explained, Stogniew's condition was very severe. The highest score he ever saw was 80 to 84. (T.492-93).

Stogniew returned to Dr. Herrero for a second visit on October 30 at which time he determined that she was sleeping better and that she had some good days and some bad days (T.89). His initial diagnostic impression that Stogniew was suffering "extreme severe depression" had not changed at this final visit (T.507). Dr. Herrero told her that he would be available to monitor Stogniew's medication but that ongoing supportive psychotherapy was left to McQueen (T.506).

Stogniew thereafter returned to McQueen for ongoing supportive psychotherapy on November 6, 1986. At this session, McQueen discussed the concept of the Resurrection as the means for Stogniew to accept her son's death (T.94-96), Stogniew described to McQueen her need to lie down on her son's bed and remember the morning she found him dead as a means to accept his death. In response, McQueen left the room abruptly and returned approximately five minutes later as Stogniew was leaving. McQueen apologized and explained that they had just encountered a "spiritual experience" and the session was over (T.97). Stogniew felt that she should accept McQueen's explanation on faith.

During their next session, on November 12, 1986, McQueen described prior week's the event as being "like a sacrament passing between" them (T.98). Thereafter, on November 18, believing that God had blessed their relationship, Stogniew wrote about the experience (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 11 -- R.657) in which she described reaching a "turning point" on November 6th and stated that she was "on [her] way to the finish line" but there were still "obstacles and hurdles" ahead of her. She prayed that she would have the strength to get over the obstacles and that McQueen would "be there to help me if I fall" (T.101).

It was the events of the November 6, 1986 session and Stogniew's subsequent letter of November 18, 1986 that McQueen testified signaled the "mutual termination" of their therapeutic

relationship. Therefore, when the two met again on December 12, 1986, McQueen saw nothing wrong in favorably considering Stogniew's offer to contribute \$25,000.00 from her deceased son's charitable foundation (Gerald F. Stogniew, Jr. Private Foundation, Inc.) to the Catholic Diocese for the purpose of establishing a counseling center and naming McQueen as the executive director (T.107).

Dr. Herrero testified that it would have been inappropriate for McQueen to have attempted to terminate the therapeutic relationship on November 6th or immediately thereafter because, in his opinion, the therapeutic relationship continues in the patient's mind (T.518). Because of Stogniew's condition as of October 30, Dr. Herrero testified that it was doubtful that she could have, within one week, learned to resolve her grief and been in a position to terminate therapy (T.514). He also indicated that any expressions by Stogniew during that particular period that she was "feeling better" or had reached a "turning point" were explainable by reference to the concept of "flight into health" which is a temporary phase of perceived improvement during which time the patient still has impaired judgment (T.514-18).

Stogniew testified that she had another session with McQueen on December 17, 1986 which was more informal and consisted of a walk in the park. McQueen told Stogniew that their relationship was more than "psychologist/patient" and had taken on a "new dimension" (T.113-14).

Stogniew continued taking Ludiomil from October 9 until Christmas day, 1986 but was not able to determine why she stopped at that time (T.91). Stogniew testified that as of December 25, 1986 she was not cured, had not resolved her grief and still was unable to accept her son's death (T.92).

During the next several months, Stogniew and McQueen continued to meet and discuss their goals and objectives regarding setting up the counseling center, including McQueen's

suggestion that the center would be a memorial to her deceased son, dedicated to his memory, and would represent her son's resurrection. McQueen further indicated to Stogniew that her involvement in the center would be therapeutic and beneficial to her as a means of resolving her grief.

As of May 1, 1987, the Counseling & Development Center, Inc. ("CDC") had been incorporated and officially opened for business. McQueen served as executive director at a salary of \$50,000. Stogniew served as a corporate officer and board member. Throughout the start-up and ongoing operations of the CDC during 1987 and early 1988, Stogniew continued to consult with McQueen regarding personal, emotional, spiritual and various other concerns she had, still considering that she enjoyed a therapeutic relationship with McQueen (T.155).

By October, 1988 Stogniew's charitable foundation had contributed over \$80,000.00 toward the start-up and ongoing operations of the CDC (T.152-53; R.667 -- Plaintiff's composite Exhibit No. 21). It was as of October 1988 that a number of disputes had arisen between Stogniew and McQueen regarding the operations and management of the CDC. Stogniew recommended that McQueen step down as executive director and that she would hold the post with no compensation until an appropriate replacement was found. This was unacceptable to McQueen. The matter was then presented to the CDC board for full consideration with the eventual result that Stogniew resigned from the board on December 28, 1988 and, at that time, severed all relationships with McQueen (T.186-92).

The DPR Proceedings

Because of the trial court's order in limine, the jury never learned of Stogniew's actions with the DPR after the termination of her relationship with McQueen. Specifically, as of February 1989, Stogniew filed her complaint with the DPR regarding McQueen's exploitation of their therapeutic relationship (R.694). After a two-day evidentiary hearing held September 20-21,

1990 before the Division of Administrative Hearings on the DPR's Administrative Complaint against McQueen, <u>DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION</u>, <u>Petitioner vs.</u> <u>THOMAS J. McQUEEN</u>, <u>Respondent</u>, DPR Case No. 0112730, Division of Administrative Hearings Case No. 89-1216 (hereinafter "DPR proceedings") (R.197-226), the DOAH Hearing Officer entered his detailed 26-page Recommended Order containing the following findings of fact based upon the evidence presented by McQueen and the DPR:

> The Respondent's first response to the client's offer of financial support should have been to decline. But his judgment immediately became clouded by the personal benefits he saw that he could derive from it. He quickly came to view the idea as the perfect opportunity to achieve his personal goals...

(R.207, ¶13).

In fact, the Respondent knew, or should have known, that the client was not "healed" in December 1986, when he agreed to accept the benefits of her proposal to use her son's foundation to establish a counseling center headed by the Respondent. Her grief remained unresolved and led to such emotional pain on her son's birthday, Mother's Day and Christmas, her son's favorite holiday, that she refused to celebrate those holidays.

(R.214, ¶32).

A <u>de facto</u> client/therapist relationship continued even after formal counseling ceased. As the client herself explained it in a November 18, 1986 card she sent to the Respondent: "I am on my way to the finish line now, but I know there are obstacles and hurdles ahead of me. I pray that I'll have the strength to get over them, and that you'll be there to help me if I fall".

(R.214, ¶33).

Even if it were appropriate to terminate the client's formal therapy in December, 1986, it is clear that, despite her continuing considerable talents and abilities to make business decisions and implement them, the client was not at that time, or for many months to come, able to deal with the Respondent as an equal in a true arm's length business transaction. When it came to looking at the Respondent, the client saw through rose-tinted glasses. In her eyes, he could do no wrong.

(R.214, ¶34).

Based upon the foregoing findings of fact, the DOAH Hearing Officer concluded, as a matter of law, that McQueen failed to meet the minimum standards of performance in his

professional activities when measured against generally prevailing peer performance as required under Section 491.009(2)(s), Florida Statutes (1989), by: 1) failing to properly safeguard Stogniew's patient file and the confidentiality of its contents; 2) terminating counseling and entering into a business relationship to further his personal interests; 3) discussing his personal goals and frustrations during therapy; and 4) failing to refer Stogniew to another therapist for continuing therapy when he terminated formal therapy (R.223-24). The Hearing Officer recommended that McQueen's license be suspended for one year, that he be fined \$1,000.00, complete one year of probation and complete specified continuing education courses in professional ethics.

The full Board of Clinical Social Work, Marriage and Family Therapy and Mental Health Counseling ("Board") adopted all of the recommendations of the Hearing Officer in its Final Order entered February 27, 1991 (R.197-99), with the exception that McQueen's license was suspended for six months and probation changed to two years under the supervision of an individual to be approved by the Board (R.197-99). No appellate review of the Final Order was sought by McQueen.

Disposition by the Appellate Court

In the trial court below, after Stogniew's motion for partial summary judgment on collateral estoppel was denied, the case was tried to a jury resulting in a defense verdict. Stogniew appealed and challenged the trial court's failure to grant her requested partial summary judgment via offensive collateral estoppel, as well as a number of evidentiary rulings and the trial court's failure to grant a new trial.

The Second District affirmed the trial court concluding that mutuality of the parties was still required for offensive collateral estoppel and that Stogniew could not be deemed in privity with the DPR in order to meet the mutuality requirement. <u>Stogniew v. McQueen</u>, _ So.2d __,

19 Fla.L.Weekly D1229 (Fla.2d DCA June 3, 1994).

Despite its opinion affirming the trial court, the Second District, "[r]ecognizing the strength of Stogniew's arguments," certified the following question to this Court as a question of great public importance:

MAY AN ADMINISTRATIVE DETERMINATION OF A PROFESSIONAL'S MISCONDUCT BE USED AS CONCLUSIVE PROOF OF THE FACTS UNDERLYING THAT DETERMINATION IN A SUIT AGAINST THE PROFESSIONAL FOR NEGLIGENCE BASED ON THE SAME FACTS?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The evils of blind adherence to the antiquated doctrine of "mutuality," requiring strict identity of the parties before applying offensive collateral estoppel, were made apparent by the results in the trial and appellate courts below. Despite having previously litigated and lost the issue before the DPR of whether he was negligent in his relationships with Stogniew, McQueen was able to defend the same allegations of failure to meet his minimum professional standards a second time and convince a jury that he was not negligent.

The only difference in the two proceedings was that Stogniew was the plaintiff in the subsequent civil action whereas the DPR, acting upon Stogniew's complaint, was the plaintiff in the prior proceedings. Based on this difference the trial and appellate courts concluded that sufficient identity of parties was lacking such that offensive collateral estoppel could not be applied.

The identity of parties requirement has been utilized by the courts as a means of achieving "mutuality," a concept thought to ensure fairness by imposing symmetry under the law: neither party can rely on a prior judgment unless both would be bound. In other words, if the judgment had gone the other way and McQueen prevailed before the DPR, he would not have been able to use his prior exoneration to bar Stogniew's subsequent civil action because, as a different party, she would not have been bound by the DPR's loss. Since both could not use the DPR judgment, neither could.

In its historical development, the mutuality doctrine has rarely ensured fairness because its mechanical approach focused on all parties or not exclusively on the party to be estopped. As a result, mutuality has been applied inconsistently and often irrationally.

Exceptions to strict identity have evolved and include those instances where the formal party's claim is derivative or where the one party could be deemed in privity with or acting as

the virtual representative for the party to be estopped. Both Stogniew and the DPR were closely aligned in attempting to achieve the same objective of holding McQueen responsible for his negligence. The DPR functioned as Stogniew's virtual representative.

This Court's 1989 decision in <u>Romano</u> refused to apply offensive collateral estoppel absent strict mutuality in the criminal-to-civil setting. Since <u>Romano</u> the legislature has created statutory offensive collateral estoppel to protect the rights of victims of crimes in their subsequent civil actions as plaintiffs. They need no longer demonstrate identity with the government. Convicted defendants are now estopped to deny the essential facts underlying their convictions in subsequent civil proceedings.

Further, this Court's 1989 decision in <u>Zeidwig</u> relaxed mutuality defensively in the criminal-to-civil content with subsequent district court decisions extending <u>Zeidwig</u> to the civil-to-civil setting as well. Relaxation occurred by following the Restatement (Second) of Judgment's approach which has not required mutuality defensively, or <u>offensively</u>, for years.

Ultimately, the most effective and consistent means for ensuring fairness when applying collateral estoppel offensively (and defensively to add clarity to Zeidwig) is, in each specific factual setting, to look at the party to be estopped and determine whether that party had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the prior proceeding. Under the Restatement approach, added considerations should be reviewed for offensive applications.

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