IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

ROSEMARY STOGNIEW,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 83,881 District Court of Appeal 2d District - No. 93-00436

THOMAS J. McQUEEN,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review of a Question Certified to be of Great Public Importance By the Second District Court of Appeal

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

THOMAS J. McQUEEN

Fowler, White, Gillen, Boggs, Villareal and Banker, P.A.

CHARLES W. HALL, ESQUIRE 501 First Avenue North. Suite 900 P.O. Box 210 (Zip: 33731) St. Petersburg, FL 33701 Tel. (813) 896-0601 Attorneys for Respondent Fla. Bar No. 326410 and WILLIAM A. KEBLER, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No. 2706911

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

letter as verification of the mutual termination of the counseling relationship. (T.1005 and 1007-8)

Another example of the factual disputes which exist in this case concerns STOGNIEW'S claim that McQUEEN misrepresented his credentials by leading her to believe he was a licensed psychologist rather than a licensed marriage and family therapist. (T.211-12, and 216) McQUEEN again testified that he never misled STOGNIEW as alleged, and that his license as a marriage and family therapist was on display during each of the counseling sessions. (T.1063-19064) In light of the significant disputes regarding the facts upon which liability, if any, rested, the trial judge did not err in submitting the liability issues to a jury for resolution.

2. THE DOCTRINE OF OFFENSIVE COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL IS INAPPLICABLE BECAUSE STOGNIEW FAILED TO MEET THE DOCTRINE'S IDENTITY OF THE PARTIES AND IDENTITY OF THE ISSUES REQUIREMENTS

Florida courts have long recognized the doctrine of collateral estoppel, or estoppel by judgment, and the parameters of its application are well defined. <u>See Prall</u> <u>v. Prall</u>, 58 Fla. 496, 50 So. 867, 870 (1909) Collateral estoppel is a judicial doctrine which in general terms prevents parties from relitigating issues that have been decided previously between them. <u>Mobil Oil v. Shevin</u>, 354 So. 2d 372, 374 (Fla. 1977) It may be used "defensively," precluding an unsuccessful litigant from prevailing in a subsequent action. Or, the doctrine may be used "offensively" precluding a defendant from raising defenses already rejected in the previous action. <u>Zeidwig v. Ward</u>, 548 So. 2d 209, 212-13 (Fla. 1989)

STOGNIEW attempted to use collateral estoppel *offensively* so that her motion for partial summary judgment would sweep away all factual disputes regarding liability. Yet, STOGNIEW has cited no case in which the doctrine has been applied so that the conclusions of the Florida Department of Professional Regulation were used to deprive a defendant of his constitutional right to have his civil liability determined by a jury. She has presented no case in which a party's civil liability was adjudicated by virtue of a DPR finding. The reason is obvious. The doctrine of offensive collateral estoppel does not and should not convert the result of a licensing agency's investigation of a professional's qualifications into a judgment awarding all allegedly aggrieved parties money damages.

The well-established rule in Florida has been and continues to be that offensive collateral estoppel may be asserted only when the identical issue has been litigated between the same parties or their privies. <u>Trucking Employees of N. Jersey Welfare Fund, Inc. v. Romano</u>, 450 So. 2d 843, 845 (Fla. 1984); <u>Zeidwig v. Ward</u>, 548 So. 2d 209, 213 (Fla. 1989) Thus, there must be identity of the parties and identity of the issues. In the present case, the trial court determined that neither identity was established. The District Court did not address the identity of issues element because it concluded that STOGNIEW failed to meet the identity of parties requirement. <u>Stogniew v. McQueen</u>, 638 So. 2d 114 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). Both Courts were correct.

a. STOGNIEW HAS NOT ESTABLISHED IDENTITY OF THE PARTIES.

The first essential element for application of the doctrine of collateral estoppel is identity of the parties or mutuality of the parties. Or, as stated in <u>Trucking</u> <u>Employees of N. Jersey Welfare Fund, Inc. v. Romano</u>, 450 So. 2d 843, 845 (Fla. 1984):

[T]he well-established rule in Florida has been and continues to be that collateral estoppel may be asserted only when the identical issue has been litigated <u>between</u> the same parties or their privies. (emphasis added)

Since STOGNIEW was not a party to the DPR proceeding, she advances two arguments in her effort to show that she satisfies the identity of parties requirement. First, she claims to be in privity with the State of Florida Department of Professional Regulation as it carried out its investigation and licensing functions. Second, she asks this court to expand the notion of privity to include a notion of "virtual representation." INITIAL BRIEF, pp. 25-30. The first theory is illogical, unsupported by Florida case law, and was rejected by the lower courts. The second theory was never presented below and misapprehends the role played by the identity of parties requirement.

STOGNIEW claims that she is in privity with the DPR as it conducted the prior investigation and disciplinary proceedings. She is not. One not a party to a suit is in privity with one who is where his interest is such that he would be bound by the final judgment as if he were a party. <u>Southeastern Fidelity Ins. Co. v. Rice</u>, 515 So. 2d 240 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). It is interesting to note that, STOGNIEW cites no Florida case decision which specifically holds that a former patient is in privity with the DPR as it investigates and disciplines a licensed professional. She presents no case which suggests that a DPR victory would have defeated her right to present her tort claims. The reason is obvious, due process would not allow her to be denied her day in court.

There are numerous decisions which have discussed application of collateral estoppel to persons not directly named in the initial action. These cases illustrate that persons such as STOGNIEW who were merely "interested" in a proceeding do not meet the standard by which to invoke collateral estoppel.

The case which conclusively rejects STOGNIEW'S privity claim is <u>Trucking</u> <u>Employees of N. Jersey Welfare Fund, Inc. v. Romano</u>, 450 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 1984), where civil litigants were prevented from using collateral estoppel offensively to establish liability. In <u>Romano</u> the plaintiffs, limited partners, filed civil claims against their general partners and business managers alleging fraud and breach of fiduciary duty. While the civil case was pending, a federal criminal indictment was filed charging the defendant with twenty-one counts of fraud and misrepresentation. The plaintiffs were named in the indictment as victims of the specific acts which had been alleged in their complaint. The defendants were found guilty on all counts.

Thereafter, the plaintiffs filed a motion for partial summary judgment asserting that the conviction conclusively established the factual allegations of the civil complaint. The trial judge agreed, entered summary judgment on the issue of liability and retained jurisdiction to determine damages. He was reversed.

In <u>Romano</u>, this Court refused to apply collateral estoppel to aid the victim of a crime even though the criminal was convicted by a jury. The Court refused to conclude that the victim was in privity with the government and therefore the doctrine was inapplicable. The same logic applies here. Was STOGNIEW in a different position than the <u>Romano</u> plaintiffs? Obviously not. There can be no serious dispute that both the victim of a crime and the victim of professional misconduct share an interest that the wrongdoer be punished. Both will undoubtedly assist the government as it investigates and prosecutes improper conduct. Neither can individually prosecute the wrongdoer. Why should collateral estoppel aid the civil claim of the patient and not that of the victim? Certainly it should not, and like the criminal victims in <u>Romano</u>, STOGNIEW does not meet the identity of parties requirement necessary to invoke offensive collateral estoppel.

Other cases, in various civil contexts further illustrate the very narrow scope of privity in this context. For example, in <u>Keesee v. Estate of Neely</u>, 498 So. 2d 1026 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), one beneficiary of a life insurance policy filed an action seeking a refund of the amount of tax she had paid on the policy proceeds. She alleged that the estate's personal representative had misconstrued a statute and a provision in the decedent's will, and thereby caused an unnecessary tax payment. The trial judge denied that claim. Later, a second beneficiary filed an identical petition for refund. On appeal, the court held that the "present matter lacks the necessary identity of parties to permit application of the doctrine of estoppel by judgment." Id. at 1027-1028.

Similarly, in <u>Zurich Ins. Co. v. Bartlett</u>, 352 So. 2d 921 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), <u>cert. denied</u>, 359 So. 2d 1210 (Fla. 1978), the court held that the doctrine **did not preclude relitigation** of a defendant's **negligence** in driving his truck even though that defendant was previously found guilty of negligence in an action brought by an identically situated passenger. The court simply refused to find a sufficient identity of the parties to allow the negligence finding of the first action to bind the defendant in the second passenger's claim.

Barnett Bank of Clearwater, N.A. v. Romano, 359 So. 2d 571 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978), considered whether a bank was in privity with mortgagors for the purposes of applying estoppel. The court noted that while it is true that one who acquires an interest in the subject matter of the suit after rendition of judgment is a privy bound by the judgment, one whose interest arises prior to that judgment is not bound unless made an actual party to the action. The court refused to allow estoppel to be used offensively to prevent the bank from litigating its interest.

These cases clearly demonstrate that because estoppel denies a party his right to a jury, the courts have limited its application to those actually involved in the prior proceeding or those whose interest arises through one actually involved. STOGNIEW'S interest, if any, arose not by virtue of the DPR investigation and discipline, but in addition to it.

STOGNIEW argues for an expanded view of privity by asserting that, since she participated and cooperated in the DPR proceedings, the DPR acted as her "virtual representative." Her argument is illogical and ignores the fact that had the DPR failed

to prove its charges against McOUEEN, STOGNIEW would have been totally free to institute her civil suit and attempt to prove that McOUEEN was negligent. It ignores the fact that because of due process considerations she had no direct financial stake in the outcome of the administrative proceeding. <u>Parklane Hosiery Co. v. Shore</u>, 439 U.S. 322, 327 n.7 (1979(city <u>Blonder-Tongue Labs. v. University of Ill. Found.</u>, 402 U.S. 313, 329 (1971) and <u>Hansberry v. Lee</u>, 311 U.S. 32, 40 (1040)). In short, while she certainly had an interest in the outcome, since it could not bind her, she was not in privity. <u>See Southeastern Fidelity Ins. Co. v. Rice</u>, 515 So. 2d 240 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).¹

b. STOGNIEW HAS NOT ESTABLISHED IDENTITY OF THE ISSUES

STOGNIEW'S motion for partial summary judgment was also deficient because the record failed to establish an identity of issues. Collateral estoppel is applicable only where the issues are identical to necessary and material issues resolved in the previous litigation. <u>Mobil Oil v. Shevin</u>, 354 So. 2d 372 (Fla. 1977); <u>Florida Dep't of</u> <u>Transp. v. Gary</u>, 513 So. 2d 1338 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987)

It is the essence of collateral estoppel that it be made certain that the precise facts were determined by the former judgment. If there is any uncertainty as to the matter formally adjudicated, the burden of showing it with sufficient certainty in the record is on the party who claims the benefit of the former judgment. <u>Prall v. Prall</u>,

¹In fact, STOGNIEW'S wait and see strategy illustrates one major criticism of nonmutual collateral estoppel. It motivates plaintiffs to delay presentation of their claims in hope that a prior litigation will establish their right to recover. <u>See</u> Ratliff, <u>Offensive Collateral Estoppel and the Option Effect</u>, 67 Tex. L. Rev. 63 (1988)

58 Fla. 3496, 50 So. 867 (Fla. 1909) The determination of whether the facts are indeed identical must be left to the discretion of the trial judge in the subsequent civil suit. <u>Trucking Employees of N. Jersey Welfare Fund, Inc. v. Romano</u>, 450 So. 2d 843, 845 (1984).

In this case, the trial judge agreed with McQUEEN that STOGNIEW had not established identity of issues. While the District Court did not address this issue, the the present case lacks the required identity of issues. In the DPR proceeding, the Final Order addressed issues of fact and rendered conclusions of law. Included within these conclusions was a determination that McQUEEN violated Florida Statute, Section 491.009(2)(s) (1989), by the following actions: failing to properly safeguard a file and the confidentiality of its contents; terminating counseling and entering into a business relationship with a patient; discussing personal goals and frustrations during therapy; and not referring a client to another therapist for continuing therapy. The critical factor for each of these conclusions of law was that the conclusions were related solely to the alleged violations of Section 491.009(2), as framed in the Administrative Complaint. It was within this statutory context, and solely within it, that the issues of fact were considered and conclusions of law rendered.

The operative complaint in this civil action raises substantially different issues of fact and law to be considered in an entirely nonstatutory framework. Significantly, the civil complaint raises no violation of Section 491.009(2), the only claim raised in the DPR proceeding. At the time the trial judge denied STOGNIEW'S motion, the multi-count civil complaint sought, instead, an award of monetary damages for the alleged negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, fraudulent misrepresentation, and breach of contract by McQUEEN. Accordingly, the legal and factual issues resolved in the DPR proceeding are not identical to those which would have been necessary and material to the issues raised by the civil complaint. Lacking these identical issues, the doctrine of collateral estoppel should not have been applied offensively. <u>See Smith v. Perry</u>, 635 So. 2d 1019 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (issues of effect of dissolution settlement agreement not identical to those of attorney's negligence in representing client); <u>Dep't of Transp. v. Clark Construction Co.</u>, 621 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (the issues involved in the actions while similar and somewhat overlapping were not identical). Thus, under existing Florida law the lower courts did not err in allowing the jury to determine whether McQUEEN was negligent.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT "FEDERALIZE" FLORIDA LAW AND ABANDON THE MUTUALITY OF PARTIES REQUIREMENT FOR APPLICATION OF OFFENSIVE COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL

Because STOGNIEW cannot establish sufficient identity of the parties under existing law, she suggests that this Court should adopt the relaxed approach of the federal cases, a view which she argues is more modern and fair. However, that relaxed approach and the arguments and authorities which support it have been expressly rejected by this Court.

In <u>Zeidwig v. Ward</u>, 548 So. 2d 209 (Fla. 1989), this Court revisited the requirement of a strict identity of parties where collateral estoppel was invoked *defensively*. After recounting the evolution of the federal application of this doctrine,

the Court concluded that where a defendant in a criminal case has had a full and fair opportunity to present his claim in a prior criminal proceeding, and a judicial determination is made that he has received the effective assistance of counsel, then his attorney, the defendant in a subsequent civil malpractice action brought by the criminal defendant, may defensively assert collateral estoppel. Id at 214.

It is critical to note that in Zeidwig, the Court extensively reviewed its previous decision in <u>Trucking Employees of N. Jersey Welfare Fund, Inc. v. Romano</u>, 450 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 1984), and did not relax the strict identity of parties requirement where collateral estoppel is to be invoked *offensively*. In <u>Romano</u>, this Court considered modification of the strict identity of party requirement in the offensive context. It recognized that the federal courts have abandoned the requirement of mutuality of parties as a prerequisite to asserting the doctrine of collateral estoppel. <u>Id</u>. at 845. It also conceded that some other states have receded from the mutuality requirement. <u>Id</u>. Nevertheless, it rejected the pleas for change, and held that the well-established rule in Florida has been and continued to be that collateral estoppel may be asserted only when the identical issue has been litigated between the same parties of their privies. <u>Id</u>. In short, it rejected the very request advanced here by STOGNIEW.

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